

AN ORDINANCE relating to Seattle Public Utilities; prohibiting food waste and compostable paper from disposal as garbage; and amending Sections 21.36.082, 21.36.083 and 21.36.922 of the Seattle Municipal Code.

**Status:** Passed  
**Vote:** 9-0  
**Date filed with the City Clerk:** 2014/09/23  
**Date of Mayor's signature:** 2014/09/23 ([about the signature date](#))

**Date introduced/referred to committee:** 2014/09/02  
**Committee:** Seattle Public Utilities and Neighborhoods  
**Sponsor:** BAGSHAW  
**Committee Recommendation:** Pass  
**Date of Committee Recommendation:** 2014/09/09  
**Committee Vote:** 3(Bagshaw, Harrell, Sawant)-0

**Index Terms:** PERSONNEL-OFFICE

**Fiscal Note:** [Fiscal Note to Council Bill No. 118195](#)

**Electronic Copy:** [PDF scan of Ordinance No. 124582](#)

**Reference:** [Clerk File 313965](#), [Clerk File 313966](#).

---

**Text:**

CITY OF SEATTLE

ORDINANCE \_\_\_\_\_

COUNCIL BILL \_\_\_\_\_

AN ORDINANCE relating to Seattle Public Utilities; prohibiting food waste and compostable paper from disposal as garbage; and amending Sections 21.36.082, 21.36.083 and 21.36.922 of the Seattle Municipal Code.

WHEREAS, Council passed Resolution 31426 in February 2013 to adopt Seattle's Solid Waste Plan 2011 Revision: Picking Up The Pace Toward Zero Waste; and

WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Plan calls for food waste recycling requirements across all customer sectors as one of the most significant new programs to help the City reach the adopted recycling goals of 60% in 2015 and 70% in 2022; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor on June 30, 2014 submitted to Council the 2013 Annual Recycling Report, which confirmed a 2013 recycling rate of 56.2% and identified food waste requirements as the primary program to help the City reach the 2015 and 2022 recycling goals; and

WHEREAS, new recycling requirements for food waste and compostable paper are projected to divert approximately 38,000 new tons per year, surpassing the approximately 30,000 tons per year gain needed to reach 2015 recycling goal; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor submitted the Draft 2015-2020 Seattle Public Utilities Strategic Business Plan on July 1, 2014, incorporating the resources and benefits for implementing new food waste recycling requirements within the proposed six-year solid waste rate path; and

WHEREAS, Seattle Public Utilities has a long and successful history of implementing recycling requirements and plans to implement extensive residential outreach and business assistance prior to any enforcement of new requirements; and

WHEREAS, to fulfill commitments in Seattle's Solid Waste Plan and the Draft Strategic Business Plan and to continue Seattle's legacy of recycling leadership, the City has decided to prohibit disposal of food waste and compostable paper as garbage; NOW, THEREFORE,

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF SEATTLE AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Section 21.36.082 of the Seattle Municipal Code is amended as follows:

21.36.082 Commercial recycling required.

A. Required Recycling of Paper, Cardboard and Yard Waste.

1. As of January 1, 2005, all commercial establishments, including those ~~((entities authorized to haul their own waste pursuant to Section 21.36.060))~~ hauling their own waste, shall separate paper (including paper cups), cardboard and yard waste for recycling, and no paper, cardboard or yard waste shall be deposited in garbage ~~((cans, detachable))~~ containers, or drop boxes or disposed as garbage at the City's ~~((Recycling and Disposal Stations after that date))~~ transfer stations.

2. Enforcement. ~~((As of January 1, 2006, civil infractions shall apply to any violation of this subsection pursuant to Section 21.36.922))~~  
Any violation of this subsection shall result in an additional collection fee of \$50 per collection.

B. Required Recycling of Glass, Plastic, Aluminum and Tin.

1. As of July 1, 2014, all commercial establishments, including those ~~((entities authorized to haul their own waste pursuant to Section 21.36.060))~~ hauling their own waste, shall separate glass bottles and jars, plastic cups, bottles and jars, and aluminum and tin cans for recycling, and no glass bottles and jars, plastic cups, bottles and jars, nor aluminum or tin cans shall be deposited in garbage ~~((cans, detachable))~~ containers~~((--))~~ or drop boxes or disposed as garbage at the City's ~~((Recycling and Disposal Stations after that date))~~ transfer stations.

2. Enforcement.

~~((a. As of January 1, 2014, the Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall begin a program of educational outreach regarding these new recycling requirements and shall report to Council by June 1, 2014 on the outreach efforts, implementation readiness and status of markets for recyclable materials--~~

~~b--)~~ a. As of July 1, 2014, the Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall monitor commercial containers and provide educational notices or tags for commercial garbage cans, detachable containers and drop boxes with significant amounts of glass bottles and jars, plastic cups, bottles and jars, and aluminum or tin cans.

~~((c--))~~ b. As of July 1, 2015,~~((civil infractions shall apply to any violation of this subsection pursuant to Section 21.36.922))~~ any violation of this subsection shall result in an additional collection fee of \$50 per collection.

C. Required Recycling of Food Waste and Compostable Paper.

1. As of January 1, 2015, all commercial establishments, including those hauling their own waste, shall separate food waste and compostable paper for recycling, and no food waste or compostable paper shall be deposited in garbage containers or drop boxes or disposed as garbage at the City's transfer stations. All commercial establishments that generate food waste or compostable paper shall subscribe to a composting service, process their food waste onsite or self-haul their food waste for processing. All building owners shall provide composting service for their tenants or provide space for tenants' own food waste containers. The Director of Seattle Public Utilities is authorized to promulgate rules, in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Code, SMC Chapter 3.02, for purposes of interpreting and clarifying the requirements of this subsection.

2. Enforcement.

- a. As of October 1, 2014, the Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall begin a program of customer outreach and assistance regarding these new recycling requirements.
- b. As of January 1, 2015, the Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall monitor commercial containers and provide educational notices or tags for containers with significant amounts food waste and compostable paper.
- c. As of July 1, 2015, any violation of this section shall result in an additional collection fee of \$50 per collection.

~~((D.))~~ D. Exceptions.

1. Existing Structures: Existing commercial structures that do not have adequate storage space for recyclable materials may be exempt from all or portions of this ~~((ordinance))~~ Section if so determined by the Director of Seattle Public Utilities. The Director of Seattle Public Utilities, in cases where space constraints are determined to exist, shall also evaluate the feasibility of shared recycling containers by contiguous businesses or multifamily structures.
2. New or Expanded Structures: New structures permitted in commercial zones that have demonstrated difficulty in meeting the solid waste and recyclable materials storage space specifications required under SMC Section ~~((subsections A, B, C and D))~~ 23.54.040 may be exempt from all or portions of this ~~((ordinance))~~ Section as determined by the Director of Seattle Public Utilities.
3. Publicly accessible garbage containers: Commercial establishments will not be responsible for recyclable materials deposited in commercial garbage containers made available to members of the general public.

Section 2. Section 21.36.083 of the Seattle Municipal Code is amended as follows:

21.36.083 Residential recycling required.

A. Recycling Required of Paper, Cardboard, Glass, Plastic, Aluminum and Tin.

1. As of January 1, 2005, all residents living in single-family structures, multifamily structures and mixed-use buildings~~((, including those entities authorized to haul their own waste pursuant to SMC 21.36.030))~~ shall separate paper, cardboard, glass and plastic bottles and jars and aluminum and tin cans for recycling, and no paper, cardboard, glass or plastic bottles and jars and aluminum or tin cans shall be deposited in a garbage ~~((can, detachable))~~ container ~~((or drop box or ((in the garbage disposal pit at the City's Recycling and Disposal Stations after that date))~~ disposed as garbage at the City's transfer stations.

~~((B.))~~ 2. Enforcement.

~~((1. As of March 31, 2004, the Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall begin a program of educational outreach regarding these new recycling requirements.~~

~~2. As of January 1, 2005, the Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall establish a program of placing educational notice tags on garbage cans, detachable containers and drop boxes with significant amounts of paper, cardboard, glass and plastic bottles and jars and aluminum and tin cans.~~

~~3.))~~ a. As of January 1, 2006, residential customers that self-haul their garbage shall be prohibited from disposing of garbage with significant amounts of paper, cardboard, or glass or plastic bottles or jars or aluminum or tin cans at the City's Recycling and Disposal Stations.

~~((4.))~~ b. As of January 1, 2006 Up through June 30, 2015, any violation of this section by residential curbside or backyard customers shall result in refusal of curbside garbage collection services. Residential customers shall be required to remove these items from garbage containers before they will be collected.

c. As of July 1, 2015, any violation of this section by residential curbside or backyard customers shall result in an additional collection fee of \$1 per can collection.

~~((5-))~~ d. ((As of January 1, 2006, any)) Any violation of this section by detachable container and drop box customers shall result in an additional collection ((rate)) fee of \$50 per detachable or drop box collection.

B. Required Recycling of Food Waste and Compostable Paper.

1. As of January 1, 2015, all residents living in single- family structures, multifamily structures and mixed-use buildings shall separate food waste and compostable paper for recycling, and no food waste or compostable paper shall be deposited in a garbage container or drop box or disposed as garbage at the City's transfer stations. The Director of Seattle Public Utilities is authorized to promulgate rules, in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Code, SMC Chapter 3.02, for purposes of interpreting and clarifying the requirements of this subsection.

2. Enforcement.

a. As of October 1, 2014, the Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall begin a program of educational outreach regarding the food waste and compostable paper recycling requirements.

b. As of January 1, 2015, the Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall establish a program of placing educational notices or tags on garbage containers with significant amounts of food waste and compostable paper.

c. As of July 1, 2015, any violation of this section by residential curbside or backyard customers shall result in an additional collection fee of \$1 per can collection.

d. As of July 1, 2015, any violation of this section by detachable container and drop box customers shall result in an additional collection fee of \$50 per collection.

C. Exceptions.

1. Existing structures: Existing multifamily structures that do not have adequate storage space for recyclable materials may be exempt from all or portions of this ordinance if so determined by the Director of Seattle Public Utilities. The Director of Seattle Public Utilities, in cases where space constraints are determined to exist, shall also evaluate the feasibility of shared recycling containers by contiguous businesses or multifamily structures.

2. New or Expanded Structures: New multifamily structures permitted in commercial zones or expanded multifamily structures that have demonstrated difficulty in meeting the solid waste and recyclable materials storage space specifications required under SMC Section ((Subsections A, B, C and D)) 23.54.040 may be exempt from all or portions of this ordinance as determined by the Director of Seattle Public Utilities.

Section 3. Subsection 21.36.922.C of the Seattle Municipal Code is amended as followS:

21.36.922 Civil infractions

\* \* \* \* \*

C. The violation of or failure to comply with any of the following sections shall be a civil infraction and subject as a Class 3 civil infraction under RCW 7.80.120 to a maximum monetary penalty and default amount of \$50, not including statutory assessmentS:

Section 21.36.044 (Containers required --- Nonresidential)

~~((Section 21.36.082 (Commercial recycling required)))-~~

Section 21.36.410 (Littering)

Section 21.36.425 (Accumulation of solid waste)

Section 21.36.430 (Unlawful use of City litter receptacles)

Section 21.36.440 (Unlawful use of solid waste container on private property)

Section 4. The Director of Seattle Public Utilities shall implement comprehensive outreach and assistance beginning October 1, 2014 to support residents and business in complying with these requirements. This customer assistance shall specifically include a fund of \$50,000 to provide targeted assistance and resources for successful food waste composting at small ethnic food service businesses.

Section 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force 30 days after its approval by the Mayor, but if not approved and returned by the Mayor within ten days after presentation, it shall take effect as provided by Seattle Municipal Code Section 1.04.020.

Passed by the City Council the \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2014, and signed by me in open session in authentication of its passage this

\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2014.

\_\_\_\_\_

President \_\_\_\_\_ of the City Council

Approved by me this \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2014.

\_\_\_\_\_

Edward B. Murray, Mayor

Filed by me this \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2014.

\_\_\_\_\_

Monica Martinez Simmons, City Clerk

(Seal)

Hans Van Dusen SPU Food Waste Ban ORD July 3, 2014 Version #1